MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON 5 JANUARY 2015

INDEX

Page No	Minute No	Heading
1	499	Apologies for Absence
1	500	Declarations of Interest
1	501	Minutes of Council Meeting held on 27 October 2014
2	502	Chair's Announcements
2	503	Public Participation
3	504	Minutes of Council Meetings held between 15 October and 1 December 2014
3	505	Questions from Members
4	506	Motions on Notice from Members
4	507	Members Data Reporting System
4	508	Purchase of Annual Leave
5	509	Review of Disciplinary Procedure
5	510	Review of Sickness Absence Management Policy
6	511	Appraisal Policy and Procedure
6	512	Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme
8	513	Annual Audit Letter 2013/14
9	514	Joint Driving at Work Policy
9	515	The Community Trigger
10	516	Exclusion of Public

10	517	Streetscene Service Arrangements
11	518	Property and Estates Restructuring Proposals
12	519	Mill Lane Update

NORTH EAST DERBYSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

HELD ON 5 JANUARY 2015

Present:

	Councillor Mrs T Reader	Chair	
Councillo	r J Allsop	Councillor	Mrs C D Huckerby
"	Mrs P Antcliff	"	C Hunt
"	Mrs J Austen	"	P R Kerry
"	N Barker	"	H Laws
"	G Baxter MBE	"	B Lewis
"	Mrs A Blackburn	"	J D McGrory
"	P Blackburn	"	T J Moon
"	G Butler	"	G Morley
"	A Cooper	"	D S Oxspring
"	J A Dargue	ű	G P Ramshaw
"	P Elliott	"	B Rice
"	S Ellis	"	Mrs J Ridgway
"	Miss M Emmens	"	P J Riggott
"	Mrs A Foster	"	Mrs L Robinson
"	A Garrett	ű	K G Savidge
"	M Gordon	ű	D Skinner
"	R Hall	"	L Stone
"	P Hemsley	"	M E Thacker
"	Mrs E A Hill	u	J Windle
"	Mrs J Hill		

499 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors B Barnes, Mrs N C Dolby, Mrs C F Ellis, N Foster (who was on other Council business), K Gillott, Mrs A Holmes, S Peters, B Ridgeway, Mrs C A Smith, Miss T Williams and B Wright.

500 Declarations of Interest

Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable pecuniary interest and/or other interest, not already on their register of interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the meeting at the appropriate time.

Councillors N Barker, G Butler, S Ellis and Mrs E A Hill all declared non-significant other interests in item 5 on the agenda, Public Participation, arising from their membership of Rykneld Homes' Board.

501 Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 27 October 2014

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 27 October 2014 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

502 Chair's Announcements

The Chair began her announcements by wishing all members a very happy and prosperous New Year. She referred to a number of donations over the previous months for which she gave thanks. These included the £1,812 raised by Tupton Hall School, the £1,285 raised through the charity auction at Council House, the £200 donated by Calow Primary School, and the £264 raised by Clay Cross Social Centre and through other contributions. The appeal total stood at £8,036.12.

The Chair advised that on Friday 27 February, Eckington Civic Centre was hosting a charity quiz night with a special musical performance from local band S21. Tickets were £7 which included entry to the quiz and a pie and pea supper. Teams of 10 were required so members were encouraged to get together and put a team forward.

This would be followed on Saturday 14 March when a number of members were participating in the charity abseil down the 80-foot Millers' Dale Bridge in the Peak District for the Chair's Appeal. Details of the Just Giving page were read out.

The following week, 21 March, Dronfield Sports Centre would play host to the world famous Black Dyke Band with tickets priced at £7 for adults and £5 for concessions. Members were encouraged to book early to avoid disappointment.

Finally, Members were reminded of the District and Parish Liaison Forum which would take place on Wednesday 21 January 2015, and the Member Involvement half-day on Tuesday 10 February 2015.

503 **Public Participation**

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule No 8, members of the public were allowed to ask questions about the Council's activities for a period of up to 15 minutes. The replies to any such questions would be given by the appropriate Cabinet member.

One question had been submitted by Mr A Clarke to Councillor Mrs E A Hill, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Housing Strategy and Social Inclusion. The question was as follows:

Could the Deputy Leader explain, now that Rykneld Homes is becoming the equivalent of a Housing Association, why it is allowed to build on Council land and house tenants who should be tenants of NE Derbyshire, and does the Council still retain ownership of the land their properties are built on?

Councillor Mrs E A Hill explained that Rykneld Homes was not a housing association but had recently assumed registered provider status, allowing it to build properties on the Council's behalf. Rykneld Homes remained in the control of the Council and any properties built by Rykneld Homes in their capacity as registered provider were ultimately owned by the Council.

The questioner was permitted to ask one supplementary question without notice arising out of the original request or reply:

Is the Council still using the trickle down system to rid themselves of empty housing to a Housing Association, and if so are empty houses being passed to Rykneld ownership and control, and if so does it not constitute a conflict of interest for the Deputy Leader and her colleagues?

Councillor Mrs E A Hill undertook to provide Mr Clarke with a written response to his supplementary question.

504 Minutes of Council Meetings held between 15 October and 1 December 2014

The following meetings had taken place between 15 October and 1 December 2014:-

	MEETING	DATE
(a)	Audit and Corporate Governance Scrutiny Committee	15 October 2014 - Special 20 November 2014
(b)	Planning Committee	21 October 2014 18 November 2014
(c)	Cabinet	22 October 2014 19 November 2014
(d)	Licensing Sub-Committee (Taxis)	28 October 2014
(e)	Healthy Communities & Well Being Scrutiny Committee	3 November 2014 - Special 14 November 2014 4 December 2014 - Special
(f)	Strategic Alliance Joint Committee	4 November 2014
(g)	Safer Homes and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Committee	5 November 2014
(h)	Economic Regeneration, Skills and Environment Scrutiny Committee	25 November 2014
(i)	Standards Committee	27 November 2014
(j)	Joint ICT Committee	1 December 2014

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the minutes of the meetings held between 15 October and 1 December 2014 be received.

505 Questions from Members

No questions had been received from members under Procedure Rule No 9.

506 Motions on Notice from Members

No motions on notice had been received from members under Procedure Rule No 10.

507 <u>Members Data Reporting System</u>

Council received a presentation from Amar Bashir, Improvement Officer at North East Derbyshire District Council and Robin Railly, Performance and Quality Officer at Bolsover District Council on the Members' Data Reporting System.

The Members Data Reporting System, which had initially been developed at Bolsover and was now being rolled out across North East Derbyshire, provided a variety of information on demographic and social data down to ward level.

The Data Reporting System could provide an invaluable tool for members when attempting to understand more about their local communities and to tackle particular issues of local concern. A brief demo of the Members Data Reporting System was provided at the meeting.

Following the presentation, members asked questions and raised issues. The Chair, on behalf of the Council, thanked the officers for their informative presentation.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the presentation on the Members Data Reporting System be noted.

508 Purchase of Annual Leave

Council considered Report No NB/01/15/AG of Councillor N Barker which sought agreement to a proposal to introduce a facility for employees to purchase up to ten days' additional annual leave during a leave year.

Council was advised that Bolsover District Council operated a scheme whereby employees could apply to purchase additional annual leave. This scheme applied to all employees who had contractual hours and had successfully completed their probationary period. It was proving to be reasonably popular with employees whilst also saving money for the Council. If agreed, it was proposed to include the text of Appendix A to these minutes under the Local Conditions chapter of the Employee Handbook on the intranet.

The Council Joint Consultative Group had been consulted on the proposals and agreed it should be recommended to Council for adoption.

RESOLVED – That:

- (1) Council agrees to the introduction of a scheme to allow employees to purchase up to ten days additional annual leave during the leave year.
- (2) Council agrees that the provisions outlined in **Appendix A** to these minutes be added to the Local Conditions chapter in the Employee Handbook.

(Senior HR Advisor)

509 Review of Disciplinary Policy

Council considered Report No NB/02/15/TM of Councillor N Barker which sought approval of a draft disciplinary policy.

A copy of the draft disciplinary procedure was attached to the report as an appendix and was appended to these minutes at **Appendix B**. The changes proposed were based on recent experience and good practice. The key difference for the Council was that it was proposed to adopt the approach taken by Bolsover District Council whereby disciplinary hearings were recorded.

The Council's Joint Consultative Group had considered the procedure on 22 October 2014 and agreed to recommend it to Council for approval.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the draft disciplinary policy attached to these minutes as **Appendix B** be approved.

(Senior HR Advisor)

510 Review of Sickness Absence Management Policy

Council considered Report No NB/03/15/SG of Councillor N Barker which sought agreement of a draft Sickness Absence Management Policy.

Council was advised that North East Derbyshire District Council and its strategic alliance partner Bolsover District Council had their own Sickness Absence Management Policies and Procedures. These policies had been reviewed and brought together into one document to assist managers to effectively manage sickness absence and to facilitate consistency of approach. A copy of the draft policy was attached to the report and is appended to these minutes as **Appendix C**.

Discussions on the draft policy had taken place with senior managers and with trade union representatives. The draft policy had been considered by the Council's Joint Consultative Group on 22 October where it had endorsed the policy with the following two agreed amendments:

- Paragraph 1.9, second paragraph, page 6 the deletion of the word "will" and its replacement with the word "may" in the first sentence.
- Part 2 Sickness Capability, page 14, paragraph 6.5 between items (d) and (e), the existing wording to be replaced with the following "if an employee should fall under the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 in terms of disability, then the employee may be entitled to reasonable adjustments to enable them to return to, or remain at, work".

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the adoption of the Sickness Absence Management Policy, attached to these minutes as **Appendix C**, be approved.

(HR and Payroll Operations Manager)

511 Appraisal Policy and Procedure

Council considered Report No NB/04/15/CA of Councillor N Barker which sought approval of the Appraisal Policy and associated documentation.

North East Derbyshire District Council and its strategic alliance partner Bolsover District Council currently used appraisal schemes for assessing work undertaken by the employee and manager, to set objectives for the employee/manager for the forthcoming months and to highlight any learning and development requirements. Employees were currently assessed at six and twelve-month periods.

With the formation of the Strategic Alliance, both Bolsover and North East Derbyshire were working closer together. The formation of joint services working on behalf of both councils meant that some managers were undertaking an appraisal for some staff on the Bolsover scheme and others on the North East Derbyshire scheme; however, employees are working to the same or similar service plans and manager. The option of one joint policy for all staff at Bolsover and North East Derbyshire would assist managers and staff in working to one policy and set up guidelines without confusion.

Consultation had taken place with management on 21 March and with unions on 30 April 2014. The Council's Joint Consultative Group had considered the draft policy and recommended it to Council for approval. The policy applied to all members of staff at North East Derbyshire with the exception of those on maternity leave and long-term sick.

RESOLVED - That:

- (1) Council adopt the policy attached as **Appendix D** to these minutes for appraisals for staff and managers.
- (2) Human Resources staff progress the timescales highlighted in the policy for future appraisals.
- (3) Briefings with staff and managers take place on the new policy as appropriate utilising the staff managers' forum and staff roadshows.

(HR Manager)

512 Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme

Council considered Report No PRK/01/15/BM of Councillor P R Kerry which sought agreement to continue the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme into the 2015/16 financial year.

In the 2010 Spending Review, the Government announced its intention to introduce a localised system for council tax support from April 2013 to replace the national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) system. As part of a wider package of public expenditure reductions and reforms to the welfare benefit system, the proposals were required to deliver a 10% reduction in expenditure.

6

The scheme that was recommended to Council for adoption in respect of the next financial year (2015/16) was essentially a continuation of the existing arrangements. The key features of the proposed scheme were as follows:

- Local Council Tax Reduction would be allowed to cover up to 91.5% of the Council Tax liability, leaving local residents of working age to pay a minimum of 8.5% themselves. Assuming they were living in a Band A property then the Council Tax Liability would be in the region of £90 p.a. for a couple or £67 p.a. for a single person. Those of pensionable age would be eligible for Local Council Tax Reduction of up to 100% of their Council Tax liability.
- The Council would operate a taper rate at which benefits were reduced as people moved back into work of 20 per cent. Although increasing the taper would reduce the amount of Council Tax support people would receive any increase may be seen as a disincentive to a return to work or to increasing their earnings therefore the rate proposed for 2015/16 would remain at 20%.
- The Council continue to take advantage of the revised Government regulations to charge 100% in respect of Empty Homes and Holiday Properties.
- The Council allow a local discount of 100% on the requirement to pay for unoccupied and unfurnished properties for a period of 3 months. In a situation where a property becomes occupied or furnished for a period of 6 weeks or less it would only be eligible to receive discount for any of the original three month period which remained. Those properties that were uninhabitable due to them requiring or undergoing major structural repairs or alterations (that would have previously qualified for exemption class A) continue to benefit from an exemption for a period up to 12 months.

Whilst the existing scheme had been subject to some criticism and had resulted in an adverse impact on a number of individuals, there was an acceptance that the scheme had worked reasonably well. The Council had continued to work with a number of local advice and welfare organisations which had helped them to address issues which had arisen in individual cases.

Council was asked to note that the scheme would be administered through adjustments to the tax base. This was essentially a technical calculation based on the number of properties and the tax band into which they fell. As such, the determination of the tax base had been delegated to the Council's Chief Financial Officer and it was recommended that this practice be continued.

RESOLVED – That:

(1) Council agrees to continue to operate a local Council Tax Support scheme for 2015/16 based on The Council Tax Reduction Scheme England Regulations 2012 amended to reflect the following local decisions concerning the key principles of the scheme:

• For those of working age the maximum amount of Council Tax that would be eligible for reduction was 91.5% of their full Council Tax Liability (approx £90 for a Band A property).

- The Council continue its policy of disregarding war pensions for the purposes of calculating income in respect of Council Tax reduction scheme at a total estimated cost of £20,000.
- (2) In line with the position set out in section 3.2 of the report, the Chief Financial Officer be granted delegated powers to update the scheme to reflect such up-ratings of premiums, allowances and non dependent deductions as may be determined by the Department of Work and Pensions and for other minor technical changes which may be required.
- (3) Council continues with a scheme for passing on relevant funding to the parish and town councils operating within the District Boundaries in order to mitigate the impact of the changes associated with the introduction of the localisation of Council Tax reform upon parish and town councils, with the funding provided reduced by a further 10% in respect of 2015/16.
- (4) In view of the fact that they are purely technical decisions, Council notes its previous decision to grant the Chief Financial Officer the delegated authority to set both the Council Tax Base and to approve the NNDR1 form for the District in respect of 2015/16 and future financial years.

(Section 151 Officer)

513 Annual Audit Letter 2013/14

Council considered Report PRK/02/15/BM of Councillor P R Kerry which presented for members' consideration the 2013/14 Annual Audit Letter prepared by the Council's external auditors KPMG.

The Council's auditors had issued an unqualified conclusion on the authority's arrangements to secure value for money for 2013/14 on 26 September 2014. This meant that the auditors were satisfied the Council had proper arrangements for securing financial resilience and challenging how economy, efficiency and effectiveness were secured.

The auditors had issued an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 26 September 2014. This meant they believed that the financial statements gave a true and fair record of the Council's position and of its expenditure and income for the year. No issues were identified in the course of the audit that were considered to be material and the auditors found that the authority had a good process in place for the production of the accounts and good quality supporting working papers.

A copy of the Annual Audit Letter had been circulated to members of the Council and was considered by the Audit and Corporate Governance Scrutiny Committee on 20 November 2014. These steps would help to ensure that an appropriate level of consideration by elected members and other stakeholders had taken place.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the Council notes the Annual Audit Letter 2013/14 from KPMG, the Council's external auditors.

(Section 151 Officer)

514 Joint Driving at Work Policy

Council considered Report No NF/01/15/SB of Councillor N Foster which sought approval of the refreshed Driving at Work Policy which had been developed jointly with North East Derbyshire District Council and demonstrated an undertaking in complying with relevant road traffic legal requirements to meet health, safety and Duty of Care requirements.

The Joint Driving at Work Policy refreshed the Council's current policy position, taking into consideration statutory and regulatory changes, and aimed to establish one standard position across the two councils to reflect the established joint management position of the fleet transport service.

The policy had been updated to reflect legislative changes in the wider fleet management remit than previously, and now included all persons who undertook driving on Council business such as grey fleet car users, contractors and subcontractors. The policy outlined specific policy statements in order to ensure the Council could demonstrate that it had taken reasonable care in its approach to the management of its fleet and persons driving whilst undertaking council business.

Details of the finance, risk and legal implications were set out in Section 5 of the report.

RESOLVED – That:

- (1) The Joint Driving at Work Policy, appended to the report, be approved as fit for purpose in managing the Council's fleet operations and persons who drive on Council business.
- (2) The Joint Driving at Work Policy be appended to the Council's corporate Health and Safety Policy.

(Assistant Director – Streetscene)

515 The Community Trigger

Council considered Report No LR/01/15/PC of Councillor L Robinson which advised members of the new Community Trigger that had been introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

The Community Trigger provided a new right for victims of anti-social behaviour to request a review of the response by authorities to complaints of anti-social behaviour where they felt that the problem had not been effectively addressed.

The purpose of the Community Trigger was to encourage a more joined up, problem solving and victim-centred approach to the resolution of the problems experienced by victims of anti-social behaviour. The trigger had partly come about following the Fiona Pilkington case where a woman had committed suicide and killed her disabled younger daughter having complained 33 times to Leicestershire Police about harassment.

Following receipt of the statutory guidance from the Home Office, local guidance had been produced to support practitioners in the delivery of the process developed for Derbyshire. Details of the process were set out in the report.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That introduction of the Community Trigger and how it would be implemented in Derbyshire be noted.

516 Exclusion of Public

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That the public be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of the following items of business to avoid the disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4, Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, (as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006).

517 <u>Streetscene Service Arrangements</u>

Council considered Report No NF/02/15/SB of Councillor N Foster which sought approval to progress work to align Streetscene service delivery performance across the Council's high profile frontline services in order to meet increased demand arising from the upturn in the economy and anticipated housing growth.

At a meeting of the Strategic Alliance Joint Committee in January 2013, members supported a six-month pilot approach with a single manager overseeing day to day operations of refuse collection, recycling, grounds maintenance and street cleansing functions at each Council's operational depot.

The pilot approach demonstrated that services could be effectively delivered utilising this approach and had been accompanied by a senior management restructure. This restructure was now placing wider demands on service operational managers and back office staff which needed to be addressed in order to maintain the impetus for reform within the service.

At the same time, a number of back office processes and systems within Streetscene had been aligned between the two Councils. This facilitated greater flexibility, enabling each Council's service needs to be delivered from either Council's operational depot. Both Councils' service plans reflected shared initiatives and projects intended to align the two Streetscene services and develop common service standards and performance levels to aid improved flexibility.

With domestic housing growth anticipated to increase across the two Council areas over the next three to five years, it was necessary to review a number of roles in order to meet increase in demand in a cost effective manner, and where possible within existing resource.

The proposals set out within the report would result in a number of savings, most notably at Bolsover where the reduction in the number of refuse collection vehicles from seven to six, together with other measures, would provide savings of some £78,773.

RESOLVED – That:

- 1. Council recognises and approves work being undertaken by the Streetscene Team to further harmonise the Councils' high profile frontline service policies, procedures and operational waste collection performance.
- 2. Council approves the reviewing of NEDDC Streetscene Team staffing positions (as per Appendices 1a and 1b) in respect to:
 - (a) Review of Joint Refuse and Recycling Manager post (NEDDC)
 - (b) Review of Joint Grounds Maintenance and Cleansing Manager post (NEDDC)
 - (c) Review of the Joint Fleet Transport Manager post (BDC)
 - (d) Disestablishment of Waste Service Supervisor (BDC)
 - (e) Disestablishment of Grounds Maintenance and Cleansing Supervisor (BDC)
 - (f) Creation and establishment of 1No Streetscene Senior Coordinator (BDC)
 - (g) Disestablishment of 1No Streetscene Assistant (BDC)
 - (h) Creation and establishment of 1No Streetscene & GIS Support Assistant (BDC)
 - (i) Extension of Technical Officer (GM) Temporary Post (1.4.15 to 30.9.15) (BDC)
- 3. Council delegate authority to the Chief Executive following consultation with the Portfolio Member for Environment to implement proposals set out in this report, subject to formal Job Evaluation and consistency checking qualifying staffing arrangements and resultant costs as set out at Appendix 1b of the report.

(Assistant Director – Streetscene)

518 Property and Estates Team Restructuring Proposals

Council considered Report No PRK/03/15/BM of Councillor P R Kerry which advised members of the outcome of the consultation process with members of staff affected by restructuring proposals in the Property and Estates Team and recommended a top tier structure which would operate across both Councils.

In August 2014, the Joint Appointments Panel appointed an Assistant Director with responsibility for Estates and Property. A month later, a report to the Strategic Alliance Joint Committee secured the agreement to commence a consultation process with staff directly affected to introduce a new management tier reporting to the Assistant Director. Joint Committee had agreed that a proposal based upon three officers reporting to the Assistant Director was an appropriate basis for consultation with the staff directly involved. That consultation took place during September and November 2014 and included a number of meetings with staff directly involved.

Following consultation, it was proposed to establish two joint posts, those being Facilities and Contracts Manager and Commercial Property and Developments Manager. Following lengthy consideration by the Executive Director – Operations and Assistant Director – Property and Estates, it was proposed not to proceed with the joint post of Principal Engineer.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – That Council approves the recommended structure for the top managerial tier for the Property and Estates Management Structure as set out in the report.

(Assistant Director – Property and Estates)

519 Mill Lane Update

Council considered Report No PRK/04/15/BM of Councillor P R Kerry which advised members of the progress made in relation to the remediation of the site at Mill Lane, the refurbishment of the associated offices and sale of the Saltergate building. The report also recommended that the Council proceeded to place an order to undertake Phase II remedial work on the land at Mill Lane and outlined the timescales and plans for the relocation from Saltergate to Mill Lane.

It was reported that the project was proceeding in line with the planned position with the main outstanding issues being the requirement to conclude the sale of the Saltergate site and to progress the sale of the land at Mill Lane. Within the report was an option identified to undertake an additional programme of work on the land at Mill Lane which, under the advice of the Council's specialist consultants, would enhance the value of the land by reducing any residual uncertainty concerning the cost of utilising it as a development platform.

There was a brief discussion around the sale of the Saltergate site and the imminent move of the Council's headquarters to Mill Lane.

RESOLVED - That:

- (1) Council notes the report and the progress that had been made in delivering the Mill Lane regeneration project.
- (2) Council approves the recommendation to undertake the Phase II remedial work at a cost of £275,000 to be funded from part of the proceeds of the sale of the Saltergate site.
- (3) Council reaffirms its previous delegation to the Chief Executive following consultation with the Leader of the Council to approve any work or actions that were necessary to progress the work on the Mill Lane site and buildings together with the disposal of the Saltergate site

(Executive Director –	Operations)
-----------------------	-------------

Appendix A

Purchase of Additional Leave

This scheme applies to all employees who have contractual hours with the Council and have successfully completed their probationary period. Applications will only be accepted where service provision would not be affected adversely.

The maximum number of days which can be purchased in any one leave year is ten working days (pro rata for part time employees).

The purchase of annual leave would be made by deductions from pay in installments. The cost would be spread out over the remaining months within the leave year to which the additional leave applies. Amounts deducted from pay would be recalculated if the employee's salary increases or decreases.

Any adjustments to pay would be before income tax and national insurance contributions are deducted.

The leave purchased will be treated as approved leave and as such, in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme, pension contributions will have to be made on pay before the deduction is made.

If the employee leaves the Council's employment during a year in which purchase of annual leave is being made, an adjustment will be made to the final pay to reflect any outstanding entitlement.

Appendix B

DISCIPLINARY POLICY

This Disciplinary Policy sets the expected standards of conduct and performance at work, and the procedure helps to ensure that the standards are adhered to and also provide a fair and consistent method of dealing with alleged failures to observe them.

This policy and the disciplinary rules which accompany it apply to all the Council's employees except the following:

Those employees who are covered by JNC Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives and the JNC Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities.

- NB (1) The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Assistant Directors as mentioned throughout this Policy document are all joint posts, but for drafting purposes the word 'Joint' has been omitted from the titles.
- NB (2) No disciplinary action will be taken against a recognised Shop Steward, trade union representative or Branch Executive Officer until the circumstances of the case have been discussed with the Regional Organiser of the union concerned.

1. INTRODUCTION

The philosophy of the Authority is to invest in its employees a high degree of trust. Any employee who betrays that trust should expect to be dealt with firmly but fairly. However, the disciplinary procedures should not be viewed primarily as a means of imposing sanctions. It should be borne in mind that the prime aim of the disciplinary process is to improve conduct and/or performance where it has been established that the required standards are not being met. It will, however, be the responsibility of Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers to make full use of measures available after having fully considered each case on its individual merits and having consulted with the Assistant Director - Human Resources and Payroll on cases of serious or gross misconduct.

2. RIGHT TO BE ACCOMPANIED

2.1 The employee should be offered the facility of being accompanied at every stage of the disciplinary process, including the investigatory interview, but this is not always possible at the point of suspension. NB the chosen companion will usually be a Trade Union representative or colleague and cannot be any person who is in any way involved in the investigation. Consideration will be given to a request for alternative representation in some circumstances.

- 2.2 During the formal disciplinary process, the chosen companion will be allowed to participate as fully as possible in the hearing. In particular the companion has a right to address the hearing and will be permitted to ask questions. The companion should also be permitted reasonable time to confer privately with the employee.
- 2.3 Where a chosen companion is not available on the date proposed for the hearing, the parties can agree an alternative time and date so long as it is reasonable and ideally falls within ten working days of the original proposed hearing.

3. OUTSIDE OF THE FORMAL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

- 3.1 Where an employee is not working to the required standard, the reason should be identified by the Manager/Supervisor and an assessment made of how the situation can be improved.
- 3.2 Timely and positive discussion with an employee to highlight problems and encourage/help the employee to improve might be appropriate in certain circumstances and could avoid formal disciplinary action at a later stage. This could include offering informal advice or coaching, or arranging counselling. Managers/Supervisors may, from time to time, take informal action in order to advise an employee of matters of concern.
- 3.3 The employee should be told of the level of improvement required, the time-scale over which such an improvement is required, and how progress will be monitored. This should be noted and confirmed in writing.
- 3.4 NB: It is important that all parties involved understand that such action is being taken outside of the formal disciplinary procedure, but that disciplinary action may follow if the required improvement is not made.

4. SUSPENSION

- 4.1 In certain circumstances, for example in cases involving gross misconduct where relationships have broken down, or where it is considered there are risks to the Council's property or risks or responsibilities to other parties, consideration needs to be given to a brief period of suspension with pay whilst an unhindered investigation is conducted. Such a suspension should only be imposed after careful consideration and in consultation with the Assistant Director Human Resources and Payroll, and it should be made clear that the suspension is not considered as disciplinary action.
- 4.2 To ensure that the suspension is not unnecessarily protracted, a regular review should take place by the Assistant Director Human Resources. It is understood that this can be a stressful period for the employee, and that the uncertainty surrounding an open-ended suspension can potentially exacerbate the position. For this reason the suspended employee should be contacted at appropriate intervals as part of the review process.

4.3 The Employer (see list of delegations at Appendix 2) has the authority to suspend an employee where this is considered appropriate. At this stage it may only be possible to give a brief outline of allegations made, pending investigation, and the employee will be given the opportunity to make initial comments. Because of the circumstances giving rise to suspension, the meeting is likely to be called at short notice and there may not always be time to arrange for representation, although management will make every attempt to secure the presence of a representative. It should be noted, however, that as suspension is a neutral act to facilitate the disciplinary process there is no automatic right in law to representation.

Suspension should be for as short a time as possible, and should not normally take place before the employee has had an opportunity to explain matters (see above).

However, in exceptional circumstances, if the employee is not available to attend a brief suspension meeting, it may be appropriate to notify them of the suspension in writing. They should be given the same brief outline of the allegations as they would have received at a meeting, and they should be invited to submit an initial response or comments.

- 4.4 In all cases of suspension the employee will continue to receive full pay (NB see 4.5 below).
- 4.5 If an employee falls sick during suspension then they will transfer to the sickness payment scheme whilst they are submitting fit notes. However the conditions of the suspension will still apply, and the suspension will resume if this is considered appropriate when the employee is declared well again.
- 4.6 Access to the workplace will not be allowed during suspension without the prior approval of the Employer (see list of delegations at Appendix 2). If the employee or their representative wishes to contact other employees or gain access to documents for the purpose of preparing the employee's case, provision may be made for this by the Investigating Officer on request.

5. APPOINTMENT OF INVESTIGATING OFFICER

5.1 Usually the investigating officer will be the employee's manager (in accordance with the list at Appendix 2 of managers who are suitably trained and delegated to take disciplinary action). However in some circumstances, eg the nature of the offence, it may be appropriate to appoint an investigating officer from another service. This decision will be made in consultation with the Assistant Director – Human Resources and Payroll.

6. INVESTIGATION

6.1 Where an employee is alleged to have committed an act of misconduct, the nominated Investigating Officer will carry out an investigation. This should happen promptly before recollections fade, and may include the employee being asked to attend an investigatory interview as well as obtaining statements from available witnesses. If the employee is invited to attend an investigatory interview, the Investigating Officer will explain the reasons for the interview.

- 6.2 The employee has a right to refuse to attend the investigatory interview but in such cases management will decide on whether to call a disciplinary hearing on the information available, without any input from the employee.
- 6.3 It should be made clear that this is not a formal disciplinary hearing but a preliminary investigation as part of a neutral process to establish the facts surrounding an act of suspected or alleged misconduct, and to decide whether or not there is a case to answer.
- 6.4 In certain circumstances it may be felt necessary for a representative from HR (and/or legal if appropriate) to be present at that interview.
- 6.5 The employee should be offered the facility of being accompanied by a Trade Union or other representative/colleague. However, as the investigatory interview is designed to ascertain whether or not there is a case to answer and to allow the employee to provide an explanation of the circumstances, the role of the companion at this stage will be in an advisory and supportive capacity only.
- 6.6 Management side will be making written notes of the investigatory interview to facilitate the process, and the employee's side is free to do the same. However the notes are not formal and will not normally be shared with the employee's side except to the extent that they will form part of a statement of case / witness statement as appropriate, and they will be destroyed as soon as that statement of case / witness statement has been produced. Where it is subsequently found that there is no disciplinary case to answer, any written records of the investigation will also be destroyed.
- 6.7 Where financial irregularities are involved, Internal Audit will be notified immediately.
- 6.8 As a result of the investigation, the Investigating Officer should make a recommendation on the following options:
 - no further action
 - arrange informal coaching
 - arrange counselling
 - issue a management recommendation
 - arrange for the matter to be dealt with under the capability procedure
 - arrange for the matter to be dealt with under the disciplinary procedure
 - a combination of the above
- 6.9 It should be noted that investigations undertaken as part of this Disciplinary Policy fall outside the scope of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. On occasion lawful business monitoring may be required, but in such circumstances RIPA standards will be adhered to.

7. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Council has a separate Whistleblowing Policy and employees are asked to refer to this in appropriate circumstances. However, a summary of relevant provisions is given below:

- 7.1 This Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. In line with that commitment employees who have serious concerns about the conduct of another employee are encouraged to come forward and voice those concerns as a witness. It is important that they should be able to do so without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or disadvantage.
- 7.2 Under the terms of the Whistleblowing Policy, in certain circumstances a witness may be given the right to remain anonymous throughout the disciplinary process.
- 7.3 If an allegation is made in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the investigation, no action will be taken against the employee making the allegation. If however, an allegation is made that is frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, action may be taken against the employee in accordance with the Council's Disciplinary Procedure.

8 FORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTION

- 8.1 If on the completion of the investigation, the Investigating Officer conducting it considers that, on the balance of probabilities, there is a case to answer, the Investigating Officer will make a recommendation to the Assistant Director Human Resources and Payroll and to the initiating officer that a disciplinary hearing should be held (see 6.8 above).
- 8.2 There may follow a short time delay whilst the Investigating Officer conducts a more detailed investigation in order to put together the Statement of Case.
- 8.3 It is the employee's responsibility to notify the Council of their chosen representative if they require copies of correspondence to be sent to them.
- 8.4 During the course of the investigation, additional matters may come to light which may not have been amongst the initial allegations but which nonetheless have to be dealt with. Therefore it should be noted that the allegations which form the basis of the hearing may differ to varying degrees from those listed in the initial correspondence, dependent upon evidence uncovered during the investigation process. However if a completely new issue arises, whilst the issues will be dealt with as part of the same disciplinary process, the employee will be notified of the new allegation and an investigation will be carried out on this also.

9 THE HEARING

- 9.1 The disciplinary case will normally be heard by an Executive Director, an Assistant Director or relevant Service Manager, or their nominated representative (see table of delegations at Appendix 2). The Hearing Officer will be supported by a representative from Human Resources and a legal adviser may also be present. The hearing will normally be recorded to ensure that an accurate record is available. (If the recording equipment is not available then detailed notes will be taken). The notes will be circulated to the employee's side for signature.
- 9.2 The hearing will take place as soon as is practicable after the preparation of the necessary paperwork. Every attempt will be made to ensure that the hearing is scheduled no later than 15 working days after the conclusion of the investigation in order to minimise stress to the employee, although this may not always prove possible, for example in cases of annual leave or sickness. At all stages of the disciplinary process, the terms of the Single Equality Act will be adhered to. Wherever possible, the employer's side will attempt to agree a mutually convenient date within the stated timescale in order to avoid any delay.
- 9.3 The employee will be given at least five working days advance written notice of the hearing, told the purpose of it, with the statement of case, and invited to attend together with their Trade Union or other representative.
- 9.4 If, for good cause, the employee or their representative is unable to attend the hearing, it will be adjourned to a date which the employee and their representative (if any) will be informed of without delay. If the employee is unable to attend the rearranged hearing, it will normally proceed in their absence, but with their representative being provided with an opportunity to present the employee's case on their behalf. Any submission by the employee in writing, or by their representative, will be considered.
- 9.5 The Hearing Officer will use the opportunity of the Disciplinary Hearing to establish facts and to consider the response put by the employee. The main points of the investigation should be examined and a decision made as follows:
 - Allegations have not been proved, therefore the case is dismissed; OR
 - Case proved on the balance of probabilities.
- 9.6 If the latter decision is made, the Hearing Officer would consider mitigation and decide upon a penalty as follows:

9.6.1 No sanction

It might be that, having considered all of the evidence and mitigation, the hearing officer considers it appropriate that no sanction be applied at this time.

9.6.2 First warning

One of the following:

Oral For a minor infringement, an employee will be given a formal oral warning. This may include advice as to future conduct. The employee should be advised in writing of the reason for the warning, that it constitutes the first step of the disciplinary procedure, and of their right of appeal. A note of the oral warning will be kept for six months from the date of the letter confirming/giving the warning, and then expunged from the employee's personal file. OR

Written If the infringement is regarded as more serious an employee will be given a formal written warning giving details of the complaint, the improvement or change in behaviour required, the time-scale allowed for this and the right of appeal. The warning will also inform the employee that a final written warning may be considered if there is no sustained satisfactory improvement or change. A note of the written warning will be kept for 12 months from the date of the letter confirming/giving the warning and then expunged from the employees personal file.

9.6.3 Final Written Warning

Where there is a failure to improve or change behaviour whilst a prior warning is still current, or where the infringement is sufficiently serious, the employee will normally be given a final written warning. This will give details of the complaint(s), warn the employee that failure to improve or modify behaviour will lead to further action under this procedure and could result in dismissal, and refer to the right of appeal. A note of the written warning will be kept for 12 months from the date of the letter confirming/giving the warning and then expunged from the employee's personal file.

9.6.4 Action short of Dismissal

If the employee has received a final written warning, further misconduct or unsatisfactory performance may warrant dismissal. However, in some circumstances it might be that, having considered all of the evidence and mitigation, the hearing officer considers that dismissal would be too severe a penalty. In such cases, consideration might be given to action short of dismissal, for example demotion or disciplinary transfer (ie transfer to a different position within the Council). In such circumstances there would be no salary protection or, in the case of a change of base, no excess travel allowances. Such action would only be taken following consultation with the Assistant Director – Human Resources to ensure consistency of approach.

9.6.5 Dismissal

If the employee's conduct or performance still fails to improve, the employee will normally be liable to dismissal. The decision to dismiss will only be taken by one of the Officers with delegated authority to do so (see Appendix 2) and the employee should be informed as soon as reasonably practicable of the reasons for dismissal, the date on which the contract will terminate, the appropriate period of notice (or pay in lieu of notice) and information on the right of appeal including how to make the appeal and to whom. The decision to dismiss will be confirmed in writing. Employees will be given written reasons for dismissal.

9.6.6 Gross Misconduct

In cases where gross misconduct is alleged and is established on the balance of probabilities, the employee will be liable to summary dismissal unless mitigating circumstances render a lesser penalty appropriate.

- 9.7 NB When deciding whether a disciplinary penalty is appropriate and what form it should take, it is important to bear in mind the need to act reasonably in all the circumstances. Factors which might be relevant include the extent to which standards have been breached, precedent, the employee's general record, position, length of service and special circumstances which might make it appropriate to adjust the severity of the penalty. Where two or more employees are involved, the penalty for each must be considered separately.
- 9.8 NB In normal circumstances, recordings, notes of disciplinary meetings and warnings will be expunged from the employee's personal file after a set period, as outlined above. However there may be occasions when it would be appropriate to extend this period, for example if there has been a significant period of absence.

10 APPEALS

- 10.1 The opportunity to appeal against a disciplinary decision is essential to natural justice. Employees may choose to raise appeals on a number of grounds, which could include the perceived unfairness of the judgement, the severity of the penalty, new evidence coming to light or procedural irregularities. These grounds need to be considered when deciding the extent of any new investigation or re-hearing in order to remedy previous defects in the disciplinary process.
- 10.2 In all cases of formal disciplinary action an employee has a right of appeal.
- 10.3 Employees wishing to exercise the right of appeal must do so in writing to the Hearing Officer, with a copy to the Assistant Director HR and Payroll, either individually or through their Trade Union within 10 working days of the date of the written notification, giving full details of the grounds of the appeal.
- 10.4 Appeals will be heard in accordance with the principles contained within the Council's Appeals Procedure. Wherever possible, the Appeal will be heard by individuals who have not been involved in the case previously.
- 10.5 Appellants will have the right to be accompanied by an appropriate Trade Union representative or other representative of their choice.

11 RECORDS

- 11.1 Written records will be kept securely by HR and Payroll, detailing the breach of the disciplinary rules, the employee's defence or mitigation, the action taken and the reasons, the date the action was taken and details of whether an appeal was lodged and its outcome and any subsequent developments. These records will be kept confidential and retained in accordance with the disciplinary policy and the Data Protection Act 1998 which requires the release of certain data to individuals on their request. Copies of any formal meeting records will be available to the employee in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 although in certain circumstances some information may be withheld, for example to protect a witness.
- 11.2 Records of disciplinary decisions will be kept on file but will be expunged from the employee's personal file where required by this policy.
- 11.3 In order to monitor the corporate situation with regard to disciplinary matters, and to give advice as necessary, departments are required to inform the Assistant Director Human Resources and Payroll in writing whenever formal disciplinary action is taken.

12 GRIEVANCES

- 12.1 In the course of a disciplinary case an employee might sometimes raise a related grievance.
- 12.2 Unless the grievance throws doubt on whether or not that process can be conducted fairly, the substance of the grievance will be discussed in the context of the disciplinary hearing.
- 12.3 However if there are any grievance issues outstanding after the disciplinary hearing, these will be dealt with under the Council's Grievance Procedure.
- 12.4 If the grievance is about the behaviour of the Investigating Officer handling the case, depending on the circumstances it may be appropriate to suspend the disciplinary procedure for a short period until the grievance can be considered. The Council may also consider, if appropriate, bringing in another Investigating Officer to deal with the disciplinary case.

13 CRIMINAL CHARGES OR CONVICTIONS

13.1 These should not be treated as automatic reasons for dismissal. The main consideration should be whether the offence is one that makes the employee unsuitable for their type of work. In all cases a decision will need to be made as to whether the conduct is sufficiently serious to warrant instituting the disciplinary procedure. For instance, an employee should not be dismissed solely because a charge against them is pending or because they are absent as a result of being remanded in custody.

13.2 Disciplinary procedures will not necessarily be postponed because other proceedings are contemplated or pending. The supervisor or manager will investigate the facts, as far as possible, and take action appropriate to the findings.

13 INVOLVEMENT OF POLICE

- 13.1 Where there is a reasonable belief that a criminal offence may be involved,, it may be appropriate to include the police in the investigation. In these circumstances the Chief Executive will need to consult with the Assistant Director HR and Payroll and the Monitoring Officer.
- 13.2 In accordance with financial regulations where theft, fraud and/or corruption are considered likely to have happened or be occurring the police may be involved following consultation with the Executive Director (Operations) and the Assistant Director HR and Payroll, who will make the decision following discussions with the Monitoring Officer.

14 DISCIPLINARY RULES

- 14.1 This list of disciplinary rules informs employees of the general standard of conduct expected from them. Conduct which undermines the satisfactory working of the establishment and is not in accordance with these principles will give rise to disciplinary action. The disciplinary procedure which accompanies this list of rules provides a fair method of dealing with alleged failures to meet them.
- 14.2 These rules apply to all the Council's employees.
- 14.3 The public is entitled to demand of a local government employee conduct of the highest standard, and public confidence in their integrity would be shaken were the least suspicion to arise that they could in any way be influenced by improper motives.
- 14.4 **All** employees of the Council are expected to meet this requirement. It is expected that every employee should:-
 - Be honest and beyond the reach of suspicion of dishonesty; and
 - Maintain at all times a high standard of integrity, conduct and professionalism; and
 - Not put their private interests* or those of relatives or friends before their duty to the Council; and
 - Not use their position to further private interests* or those of relatives and friends; and
 - Perform faithfully the duties specified in their contract of employment;
 - Treat others with respect and courtesy.

NB 'Private Interests' includes any employee's contracted position union duties or activities.	y interests or activities Please note this can	that are not directly related to an include work connected with trade) ;

Appendix 1

The basis upon which the Council operates is one of trust, high expectations and responsibility. Emphasis is placed upon positive outcomes and achievements.

Gross misconduct is misconduct of so serious a nature that an employer is justified in no longer tolerating the continued presence at the workplace of the employee who committed the offence. Dismissal can either be with notice or without notice (summary dismissal) and gross misconduct may also warrant dismissal for a first offence. The lists below show examples of the types of offences which constitute misconduct and gross misconduct. It should be noted that some offences appear in both lists, and this is because the seriousness of the breach might be minor or significant. The lists are **not** exhaustive and there may be other offences which result in disciplinary action being taken. Every offence will be carefully considered, and disciplinary action taken in accordance with the disciplinary procedure, depending on the seriousness of the case and in the light of all the circumstances.

EXAMPLES OF GROSS MISCONDUCT

Employees should be aware of the type of conduct, often referred to as gross misconduct, which may warrant summary dismissal (ie dismissal without notice). Summary is not synonymous with instant and incidents of gross misconduct will still need to be investigated as part of the formal procedure. Acts which constitute gross misconduct include those resulting in a serious breach of contractual terms. Examples of acts which this Council considers to constitute gross misconduct are as follows:

- Theft, fraud or deliberate falsification of records
- Physical violence
- Deliberate damage to property
- Fraudulent misuse of Council's name or property
- Serious incapability brought on by alcohol or drug abuse
- Serious negligence which causes or might cause unacceptable loss, damage or injury
- Serious acts of insubordination
- Serious infringement or health and safety rules
- Serious breach of confidence (subject to the Public Interest (Disclosure) Act 1998)
- Unfair discrimination against an employee or member of the public on the grounds of colour, disability, sex, age, ethnic origin, religion, marital status, sexual orientation or political beliefs.
- Unfair discrimination against an employee undertaking/participating in Trade Union activities.
- Harassment
- Inappropriate use of ICT equipment and systems.
- Inappropriate use of work time
- Serious breach of one or more of the Council's Policies*

- Conflict of Interests
- Inappropriate access and/or disclosure of personal or confidential information obtained through employment with the authority without authorisation.
- Abuse of Position: All employees have a position of trust and responsibility in respect of the effective and efficient operation of the organisation. No person may use an official position for a private advantage for themselves or another, and such activity may be regarded as gross misconduct.
- Failure to disclose personal circumstances that may affect employment with the Council

Examples of Misconduct

(This list is not intended to be exhaustive but gives examples of the type of conduct which is considered to constitute misconduct. It should be noted that accumulation may result in dismissal).

- Unauthorised absence from duty
- Insubordination or failure to obey a reasonable instruction
- Disregard of safety practices, procedures and rules
- Misuse or unauthorised use of Council property or equipment, including private use of Council mobile telephones
- Being an accessory to a disciplinary offence by another employee
- Undertaking activities detrimental to recovery whilst on sick leave
- Failure to follow Council procedures
- Harassment
- Inappropriate use of ICT equipment and systems
- Smoking on Council property
- Inappropriate use of work time
- Breach of one or more of the Council's policies*
- Conflict of interests
- Inappropriate access and/or disclosure of personal or confidential information obtained through employment with the authority without authorisation.
- Failure to disclose secondary employment
- Failure to disclose personal circumstances that may affect employment with the Council

^{*} All employees will observe the provisions of the Council's Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Employee Code of Conduct, ICT Information Security Policy and other policies / rules applicable to employees. Copies of all these documents are available on the intranet or from Human Resources. A serious breach of these rules is likely to result in a breakdown in trust and confidence and will be treated as gross misconduct.

Officers delegated to take Disciplinary Action or Suspend from Duty

Warnings and Dismissals

Investigation & Suspension

Chief Executive Chief Executive Officer Assistant Director Economic Growth Assistant Director Planning & Environmental Health Assistant Director – Governance and Monitoring Senior Principal Solicitor (BDC) Chief Executive's and Partnership Manager (BDC) Economic Development and Investment Manager (BDC) Development Control Manager (BDC) Planning Policy Manager (BDC) Heritage Conservation Manager (BDC) Principal Solicitor (NE) Planning Services Manager (NE) Estates & Valuation Manager (NE) Partnership Co-ordinator (NE) Housing Strategy Manager (BDC and NE)	Chief Executive Officer Assistant Director Economic Growth Assistant Director Planning & Environmental Health Assistant Director - Governance
Transformation Executive Director Transformation Assistant Director Customer Service and Improvement Assistant Director Human Resources and Payroll Assistant Director Leisure Customer Services Operational Manager (NEDDC) Customer Contact Manager (BDC) Senior Duty Officers (Leisure) ICT Manager	Executive Director Transformation Assistant Director Customer Service and Improvement Assistant Director Human Resources and Payroll Assistant Director Leisure

Investigation & Suspension	Warnings and Dismissals
Operations Executive Director Operations Assistant Director Finance, Revenues & Benefits Assistant Director Streetscene Billing & Recovery Manager (BDC) Benefits Manager (BDC) Head of Housing (BDC) Housing Needs Manager (BDC) Housing Enforcement Manager (BDC) Operational Repairs Manager (BDC) Strategic Repairs Manager (BDC) Waste & Recycling Manager Grounds Maintenance and Cleansing Manager Chief Accountant Revenues & Benefits Manager Fleet Transport Manager	Executive Director Operations Assistant Director Finance and Revenues & Benefits Assistant Director Streetscene

Appendix C

SICKNESS ABSENCE MANAGEMENT POLICY

INTRODUCTION

This policy outlines the steps to be followed if an employee is absent due to ill-health.

All employees feel the impact of ill health and sickness absence. It can significantly affect how teams and services perform. This in turn affects the level and quality of service provided to our customers.

The Council is concerned for the safety and welfare of its employees and seeks to ensure that absence is handled in a fair and positive way. The Council's policy is designed to achieve an improvement in overall employee attendance levels and to help employees overcome ill health difficulties by providing advice and support whenever necessary.

In return the Council expects its employees to respond in the following ways:

- a) To care for their health and to seek medical help whenever appropriate
- b) To attend for work whenever they are able to do so
- c) Not to be involved in activities whilst on sick leave which may inhibit recovery and return to work
- d) Co-operate fully with the application of this policy
- e) When absent, advise their Line Manager/Supervisor in accordance with this policy
- f) To use their own time (i.e. annual leave, flexi leave, TOIL etc) for elective surgery (i.e. surgery that is not considered to be medically necessary such as cosmetic surgery) except in cases where this is linked to a serious medical condition.

Throughout the formal stages of the policy, employees have the right to be accompanied by their Trade Union representative, colleague or friend. Throughout the informal stages (e.g. return to work meeting, Occupational Health referral etc) whilst there is no entitlement in law, sympathetic consideration will be given to requests to be accompanied, and each case will be considered on its merits.

Employees should note in the event of unreasonable failure to co-operate with the terms of this policy including attending occupational health appointments and sickness capability meetings, sick pay may be withheld in respect of the period of the employee has failed to co-operate with the Council's policy.

PART ONE - SICKNESS ABSENCE REPORTING

This is the process to be followed if an employee is unable to attend work due to ill health. It applies to all employees of the Council, including those on temporary contracts and casual workers.

1 Employee Notification Policy

1.1 First day of absence

When an employee is unable to attend work the employee (or, in the case of severe incapacity, the person acting on their behalf) must notify their immediate Line Manager/Supervisor/ or nominated officer before 9.00 am on the first day of absence. This notification must be via a telephone call.

Street Scene employees, should notify their **Supervisor or nominated officer** as soon as possible but no later than the start of their shift to enable alternative arrangements to be made.

Those employees who work fixed patterns or shifts should normally report to the nominated officer at least 30 minutes before the commencement of their shift – or in the case of early morning shifts as soon as possible and in any event no later than 15 minutes after the commencement of the shift.

It is important that contact is made with the employee's Line Manager/ Supervisor in the first instance. If the Line Manager/Supervisor is not available contact should be with another nominated officer.

Services should make employees aware of individual reporting lines.

The Line Manager/Supervisor/nominated officer should obtain the following information:

- a) Employee's name
- b) Section in which employee works
- c) Reason for absence.
 - (This should be the general nature of any illness, the first day of sickness and whether the absence is work related or due an industrial injury at work, or whether the absence is disability related).
- d) Expected date and time of return to work if known
- e) If any assistance or advice is required by the employee
- f) Any outstanding work commitments
- g) Who reported the absence
- h) Whether or not the GP has been contacted

In addition, the employee should be advised that a further call is necessary on the fourth calendar day.

- 1.3 Upon initial notification of absence the Line Manager/Supervisor or person receiving the call must complete a Sickness Absence Form SF1. (BDC ONLY, also complete the weekly absence return and ensure TMS is updated accordingly).
- **1.4** Fourth day of absence (calendar days)

If the absence continues after three calendar days and the employee has not provided further notification, then on the fourth day (if part-time the fourth calendar day) the employee, (or, in the case of severe incapacity, the person acting on their behalf), must telephone the Line Manager/Supervisor and give details of the general nature of illness and the expected date of return. The times by which notification must be made are as listed in 1.1 above.

1.5 Eighth day of absence (calendar days) and ongoing

If the absence continues beyond seven calendar days a Doctor's Statement of Fitness for Work (see Section 2) must be provided to the Council by not later than the eighth calendar day, or posted before the eighth calendar day. Employees are advised to make early contact with their Doctor if they have reason to believe their absence may go on for longer than seven calendar days to avoid problems booking appointments.

- 1.6 On receipt of the Statement of Fitness for Work note, if the Doctor has indicated that the employee may be fit for work subject to certain conditions, the Line Manager/Supervisor will arrange to see the employee at the earliest opportunity to discuss a way forward. Advice should be sought from the HR & Payroll Service where appropriate.
- 1.7 One of the most important aspects of managing sickness absence is to maintain communication with absent employees and this is by definition a two way process. Managers and employees should therefore be proactive in maintaining contact during any period of sickness absence. This will help to facilitate a successful return to work. The form, or forms, of contact such as telephone or personal visits should always be agreed with the employee and must be in line with this policy.

It will be very important the employee and line manager understand that the purpose of the contact is to keep in touch, exchange information and provide advice and support to facilitate an early return to work. Communication will be maintained using a sensitive approach to help employee's wellbeing and confidence while absent and maintain a link with work.

- 1.8 Subsequent Doctor's Statements must be submitted to cover absence if it extends beyond the period covered by the initial Statement. These should be provided to the Council by no later than the day after the expiry of the previous Statement and should be sent direct to the HR and Payroll Service, who will in turn notify line managers.
- 1.9 Employees should note that in the event of late notification of sickness, late submission of fit notes or failure to co-operate with the terms of the policy, sick pay may be withheld. Doctors' notes will be not accepted retrospectively where these are more than five working days overdue. Backdated statements will not be accepted, except in exceptional circumstances and with the authorisation of the relevant Assistant Director or Director in consultation with HR & Payroll.

Where an employee fails to follow the notification/certification requirements, sick pay may be deducted in respect of days where notification is late, or where Doctors' Statements of Fitness have

not been received. In such circumstances, the Line Manager/Supervisor will have the discretion to reinstate sick pay for the day(s) in question only where there are exceptional reasons for doing so, in consultation with advice from the HR and Payroll Service.

1.10 An employee must return to work as soon as they are fit to do so, in particular if they consider themselves fit to do so before the expiry of their current Fitness for Work note. Arrangements should be agreed between the employee and their Line Manager/Supervisor, and may involve the Occupational Health Service and advice from the HR and Payroll Service as appropriate.

Return to Work

1.11 As soon as possible on the return to work the employee must complete a Self-Certification Form/Return to Work (SF2) in the presence of their Line Manager/Supervisor, who will conduct a Return to Work meeting at this point (see Section 3).

This information is to be kept confidential by management and HR and Payroll. A copy of a Self-Certification Form/Return to Work Form SF2 will be given to the employee at the time of completion if they wish. The completed SF2 Form must be returned to HR & Payroll.

Line Managers/Supervisors/nominated officers must send an email to the Payroll inbox to notify the date of the employee's return to work immediately upon their return. Managers are requested to send a copy of this email to the employee unless it is not possible to do so, eg because the employee does not have an email account

- 1.12 If an employee knowingly submits false information in relation to their incapacity it will be treated in accordance with the Council's Disciplinary Procedure.
- 1.13 If an employee returns from certificated absence for less than seven working days then this will normally be treated as a continuation of the previous absence and a Doctor's Statement will be required to cover the absence.
- 2 Statement of Fitness for Work
- 2.1 A Statement of Fitness for Work, or Fit note, will indicate whether the employee is unfit for work, or whether they may be fit subject to certain conditions.
- 2.2 The information on the form is advice for the employee and is not binding on the employer. There is no longer a requirement to obtain a fit to return to work note once the current Statement expires, or if the Line Manager/Supervisor and employee, with or without the involvement of Occupational Health, agree that the employee can return sooner than the expiry of the Statement.
- 2.3 The Line Manager/Supervisor and employee must keep in regular contact throughout any period of sickness absence, (See 1.7). The employee must inform their Line Manager/Supervisor immediately if they are issued with a Statement of Fitness for Work or Fit Note.

- 2.4 If the Statement indicates that the employee is fit for work subject to certain conditions, then a meeting will be arranged between the Line Manager/Supervisor and the employee to discuss the position with a view to the employee returning to work as soon as possible. In cases where the Council cannot reasonably offer the required adjustments the Statement will be treated as though the employee was declared 'not fit for work'.
- 3 Return to Work
- 3.1 The line manager must conduct a return to work meeting with the employee following EVERY absence.
- 3.2 During the meeting, the employee and line manager will complete a Self-Certification Form/Return to Work Form SF2 together. Both will sign the form and one copy will be retained by the employee if they wish. The other will be placed on the employees personal file.
- 3.3 The purpose of the meeting is:
 - (i) to identify any emerging problems that the employee may be experiencing
 - (ii) to identify any support or assistance that the Council may be able to offer as an employer to facilitate attendance at work in the future.
 - (iii) to discuss the employee's absence and to consider it in the context of other absence and an update/briefing on the service.
- 4 Management Recording
- 4.1 Management is responsible for ensuring:
 - (i) that all employees are aware of the absence notification procedures.
 - (ii) all appropriate information and documentation is accurately completed and sent to the HR and Payroll Service in a timely manner.
- 4.2 Copies of all the documentation, including any Doctor's Statements/Fit Notes, will be retained on the employee's medical/personal file. This information is treated in the strictest confidence and retained in line with legislation.
- 4.3 Employees will have access to their own absence/medical records on written request, allowing three working days notice.
- 5 Sickness absence and annual leave
- 5.1 To obtain reinstatement of Annual Leave due to ill-health a Statement of Fitness for Work will be required and reinstatement will be given based on the dates in the Doctor's Statement.
- 5.2 In the event that an employee is prevented from taking their annual leave owing to long term sickness and does not return to work before the end of their annual leave year, they may be entitled to carry forward some annual leave entitlement to the following year. The entitlement will be based on 20 days (including bank holidays) for the year, and any annual leave/bank

holidays already taken will be deducted. Line Manager/Supervisors should seek guidance from HR & Payroll on cases where the above applies.

- 5.3 If the employee does not return to work, the entitlement as calculated under the terms of 5.2 above will be paid and based on the 20 days (including bank holidays) for the year. Line Manager/Supervisors should seek guidance from HR & Payroll on cases where the above applies.
- 5.4 Where it is felt an employee is using their annual leave to mask an underlying medical condition and this is preventing the Council from providing advice and support to facilitate attendance at work the Line Manager/Supervisor will discuss this with the employee.
- 6 Management Monitoring
- 6.1 Senior and Services Managers are responsible for managing and monitoring employees' absence in accordance with this policy. HR & Payroll will provide advice and support to managers.

SICKNESS ABSENCE MANAGEMENT POLICY PART TWO - SICKNESS CAPABILITY

INTRODUCTION

This section of the policy details the Council's expectations of both managers and employees in the management of sickness absence. Its aim is to provide a framework within which managers can balance the needs of individual employees with the need to provide services.

The policy sets out how sickness levels of employees will be monitored by their managers and how medical advice should be sought where issues continue to occur. The measures contained in this policy are not intended to prohibit sickness absence or to punish staff who have time off sick. They are designed to achieve an improvement in overall employee attendance levels and to help employees overcome ill health issues by providing advice and support whenever necessary.

Wherever possible the objective will be to assist employees to return to normal attendance at work. However it is acknowledged that this will not be possible in all cases. Therefore, this capability policy sets out the processes whereby sickness issues are addressed.

Managers should always offer support, but employees must be aware that extended or recurrent short-term absence cannot be absorbed by the service and may result in dismissal on ill-health or attendance grounds.

The issue is the level of absence experienced and not whether it is genuine.

COUNCIL SICKNESS TRIGGERS

The sickness triggers implemented by the Council to identify individual levels of sickness absence and to notify managers when further action may be beneficial, are as follows:

- a) Where there is any pattern of regular short term absence; or
- b) Four or more separate periods of absence in any rolling 12 month period; or
- c) Where there have been six days (pro-rated to hours worked) absence in any 12 month rolling period.
- d) Any ongoing absence which has lasted, or can be expected to last for four weeks or more or for any recurrent periods (which could be less than 4 weeks) associated with a serious health problem. (NB In respect of employees who work on a part-time or job-share basis the four week period would remain the same, regardless of the amount of time the employee would normally have been in attendance during that time).

This is the process to be followed if an employee is absent due to ill-health. It applies to all employees with the sole exception of employees undergoing a probationary period.

(For probationary employees please refer to the Probationary Procedure)

Line Managers/Supervisors are responsible for managing and monitoring employees' absence in accordance with this policy. Advice should be sought from the HR & Payroll Service where appropriate.

1 REPORTING INSTRUCTIONS AND RETURN TO WORK MEETINGS

1.1 See Part One of the Sickness Absence Management Policy.

2 FREQUENT SHORT-TERM ABSENCES

- 2.1 Sickness absence will normally be addressed through Part One of the Council's Sickness Absence Management Policy, for example, monitoring sickness absence and carrying out return to work meetings.
- 2.2 However, a meeting will be arranged with the employee (see Section 3) by their line manager where there is concern about an employee's level of repeated short term absences or an unacceptable level of sickness absence is identified as outlined in the sickness triggers, below:
 - a) Where there is any pattern of regular short term absence; or
 - b) Four or more separate periods of absence in any rolling 12 month period; or
 - c) Where there have been six days (pro-rated to hours worked) absence in any 12 month rolling period.
- 2.3 It should be noted that an employee's absence record will be monitored to enable managers both to identify emerging difficulties (for example where an employee has had consistent full attendance and then begins to have regular or significant absence); and to identify a fair overview of the employee's attendance and any annual patterns of absence.
- 2.4 A meeting may also take place at the line manager's discretion in other circumstances where there are reasonable grounds for review. Line Manager/Supervisors must seek guidance from HR & Payroll on cases where the above applies.
- 2.5 Where a meeting is called to discuss the outcome of a referral to the Council's Occupational Health Service, this may take place as part of, or in addition to, the meetings detailed in the following sections, dependent upon the circumstances.

3 First Meeting

- 3.1 The purpose of the meeting is to encourage an open discussion between the manager and employee to facilitate attendance at work. This is in addition to any Return to Work meetings.
- 3.2 The employee will be given five working days notice of the meeting by the line manager or it can take place earlier by mutual agreement.
- 3.3 The meeting will focus on the employee's health and welfare to help facilitate attendance at work. It will identify the reasons for absence and whether or not the absences relate to a disability or any other underlying cause. Advice and support will be provided where appropriate. An outcome of the meeting may be a referral to Occupational Health.

- 3.4 It is also possible that absences relating to disability may reach the stage where it is considered that the service can no longer sustain those absences. Such a situation will also be dealt with in line with this Policy, but it will be necessary to consider carefully issues about how the individual's job is done, and whether or not reasonable adjustments would assist with attendance issues.
- 3.5 Employees should be advised that continuing absences may necessitate formal action which could include termination of employment.
- 3.6 An attendance target, based on the corporate sickness trigger levels as stated in this policy, should be set with a date for a review meeting after three months (see Section 4).
- 3.7 The content and outcome of the meeting should be confirmed in writing, normally within five working days, and a copy given to the employee with a copy for the personal file.
- 3.8 Advice should be sought from the HR and Payroll Service if necessary.

4 First Review Meeting

- 4.1 The first review meeting (see Section 3.6 above) can be brought forward at the manager's discretion. This would generally be where sickness absence had continued or other relevant changes had occurred. In this case the employee should be given five working days notice of the meeting or it can take place earlier by mutual agreement.
- 4.2 The meeting will focus on the employee's health and welfare, to review the attendance record against the target previously set and to help facilitate attendance at work. Advice and support will be provided where appropriate. An outcome of the meeting may be a referral to Occupational Health.
- 4.3 If the employee has attended an Occupational Health appointment, a meeting will take place with the employee, normally within ten working days of receipt of the report (see Section 6).
- 4.4 If the level of sickness absence has reduced, this should be positively acknowledged. It may be considered necessary to arrange a further review meeting (see Section 5) after a further three month period or sooner at the manager's discretion. This should be confirmed in writing normally within five working days.
- 4.5 If the level of sickness absence has not improved, the employee should be made aware of the effect on the service and on other colleagues of their continued high level of sickness absence. If the employee has attended an Occupational Health appointment, various options will be considered (see Section 6). In addition, the meeting may also result in an appropriate outcome (see Section 7). A date should be set for a second review meeting after three months or sooner at the manager's discretion.
- 4.6 The content and outcome of the meeting should be confirmed in writing, normally within five working days, and a copy given to the employee with a copy for the personal file.

5 Second Review Meeting

5.1 The second review meeting (see Section 4.5 above) can be brought forward at the manager's discretion from the original date proposed for the meeting. In this case the employee should be given five working days notice of the meeting or it can take place earlier by mutual agreement.

- 5.2 The meeting will focus on the employee's health and welfare, to review the attendance record against the target previously set at the first review and to help facilitate attendance at work. Advice and support will be provided where appropriate. An outcome of the meeting may be a referral to Occupational Health.
- 5.3 If the level of sickness absence has reduced, this should be positively acknowledged and confirmed in writing normally within five working days.
- 5.4 If the level of sickness absence has not improved, as much information as is available about the employee's attendance record and other relevant factors should be obtained. The employee should then be referred to the Council's Occupational Health Service (see Section 6), unless they have already attended such an appointment.
- 5.5 If the employee has attended an Occupational Health appointment, various options will be considered (see Section 6). In addition, the meeting may also result in an appropriate outcome such as the issuing of a first level warning, (see Section 7).
- 5.6 Further review meetings will take place where necessary to facilitate attendance at work.

6 REFERRAL TO COUNCIL'S OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE

- 6.1 Dependent upon the circumstances of each individual case, the Council will have the facility to refer the employee to the Occupational Health Service for assessment. Examples of referral circumstances could be, for example:
 - a) When there are concerns about the health and safety of the individual or others
 - b) When trigger points are reached
 - c) If it is felt that early referral would benefit the employee and the organisation, e.g. in stress cases where it has been proven statistically that early referral facilitates a speedier return to work
 - d) If information is required about the likely length of absence
 - e) After an absence of four weeks, (unless the prognosis is clear e.g. broken leg etc)
 - f) Where there is no medical evidence to support frequent self certificated absences
- 6.2 The employee has a duty to undertake appointments with the Occupational Health Service, and to give immediate notice if he/she is unable to attend. Failure to do so would normally lead to withdrawal of pay under the Sickness Payments Scheme.
- 6.3 In certain circumstances, one of the options that will be considered during the Occupational Health assessment, in consultation with the employee, may be a referral under the Leisure GP Referral Scheme. The initial consultation may take place in work time, but the employee would need to pursue any subsequent programme in their own time.
- 6.4 Following receipt of the Occupational Health report, a meeting will take place with the employee, normally within ten working days of receipt of the report. This may be part of the scheduled meetings or an additional meeting, dependent upon the circumstances and timing.
- 6.5 The report will form the basis of discussion at the meeting. One of the following options should be agreed according to the circumstances which have been identified:

- a) Accept the position and keep it under review.
- b) A return to work on a phased basis from a specified date. (See Section 9 below)
- c) Consider introducing modified duties and/or reduced hours for a limited period of rehabilitation, with the aim that the employee will return to the full range of duties/hours in due course. If employees reduce their hours this will result in adjusted pay. Dependent upon individual circumstances, modified duties may result in adjusted pay.
- d) Arrange alternative employment, using the Council's Redeployment Procedure, where such suitable alternative employment can be identified.

If an employee should fall under the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 in terms of disability, then the employee may be entitled to reasonable adjustments to enable them to return to, or remain at work.

e) If termination of employment is being considered, a further meeting should be arranged with the employee and their representative to discuss this and allow the employee and their representative the opportunity to respond. (See Section 7.5)

The content and outcome of the meeting should be confirmed in writing, normally within five working days, and a copy given to the employee with a copy for the personal file.

7 MEETING OUTCOMES

Withdrawing Overtime

7.1 In the case of an employee normally required to undertake additional hours or non-contractual overtime, it may be appropriate to indicate that, as the commitment to additional hours may be affecting the employee's health, consideration will be given to withdrawing such overtime until the employee's attendance record indicates that the impact of ill heath has been reduced or eliminated.

Formal Sickness Capability Warnings

7.2 First Level Sickness Capability Warning

A First Level Sickness Capability Warning will normally be issued where the employee has not achieved the target set at the first review meeting (See Section 4). The warning will be confirmed in writing, and it will be made clear that failure to improve attendance may lead to termination of employment. Once an employee has been placed on a warning, meetings will take place on a regular basis to set targets for, and review, attendance. Where there has been full attendance over a period of 12 months since the warning was issued, the warning will no longer be considered as 'live'. Line Managers/Supervisors should seek guidance from HR & Payroll on cases where the above applies.

7.3 Final Sickness Capability Warning

Where there is continued failure to improve attendance and achieve targets, the employee will normally be issued a Final Sickness Capability Warning. It should be made clear that the service can no longer tolerate the high level of sickness absence and that any further failure to achieve targets will lead to termination of employment. This warning will be confirmed in writing and placed on the employee's personal file. Meetings will continue to take place on a regular basis to set targets for, and review, attendance. Line Managers/Supervisors should seek guidance from HR & Payroll on cases where the above applies.

7.4 These warnings will remain on the individual's file to enable an overview of the employee's attendance. However, where it is considered that a reasonable period of full attendance has elapsed since the Final Sickness Capability Warning was issued, or there are significant mitigating circumstances to a recent period of absence, there will be the facility to reaffirm the Final Sickness Capability Warning as an alternative to termination of employment. In any event, where there has been full attendance over a period of 12 months since the warning was issued, the warning will no longer be considered as 'live', and the warning will be expunged.

7.5 **Termination of Employment**

If the employee's attendance still fails to reach the required targets, or if the outcome of discussions concerning Occupational Health Service reports results in termination of employment being one of the relevant options, then a meeting will be arranged as outlined below.

- The purpose of the meeting is to discuss the position and this will include a review of all the
 options available. The employee and their representative will be given the opportunity to respond.
 The employee will be made aware that a potential outcome of the meeting may be that the only
 course of action available is termination of employment on the grounds of sickness capability (as
 all other options have been considered.)
- The employee and their representative will be given five working days notice of the meeting and informed of the reason for the meeting.
- The meeting should be convened by the relevant Executive Director or Assistant Director and should be formal.
- The employee's Line Manager/Service Manager or Supervisor will be present.
- A Senior Officer from the HR and Payroll Service should always be present.
- A legal adviser may be present.

If the outcome is a decision to dismiss, the employee will receive:

- 1 The appropriate period of notice, or payment in lieu of notice (if appropriate).
- Written notice of the reasons for their dismissal within five working days.
- 7.6 **Appeals** The employee will have a right of appeal to the Council's Appeals Panel against a decision to dismiss. Please refer to the Council's Appeals Procedure.

8 LONG-TERM ABSENCE

8.1 Any ongoing absence which has lasted, or can be expected to last, for four weeks or more can generally be regarded as "long-term" or any recurrent periods (which could be less than 4 weeks) that are associated with a serious health problem. (NB In respect of employees who work on a part-time or job-share basis the four week period would remain the same, regardless of the amount of time the employee would normally have been in attendance during that time).

- 8.2 Where an employee has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial, long-term (one year or more) adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 may apply. In these circumstances the manager must consider the need for reasonable adjustments and should seek appropriate specialist advice from the HR and Payroll Service.
- 8.3 Where an employee returns to work for less than seven calendar days and then goes off sick again, the period of absence will normally be considered to be continuous for absence management purposes.
- 8.4 One of the most important aspects of managing sickness absence is to maintain communication with absent employees and this is by definition a two way process. Managers and employees should therefore be proactive in maintaining contact during any period of sickness absence. This will help to facilitate a successful return to work. The form, or forms, of contact such as telephone or personal visits should always be agreed with the employee and must be in line with this policy.
 - It will be very important the employee and line manager understand that the purpose of the contact is to keep in touch, exchange information and provide advice and support to facilitate an early return to work. Communication will be maintained using a sensitive approach to help employee's wellbeing and confidence while absent and maintain a link with work.
- 8.5 At the latest, after four weeks' absence the manager will invite the employee to attend a meeting to discuss progress. At the employee's request, this meeting might take place at their home or another agreed location. Five working days notice should be given of the visit or it can take place earlier by mutual agreement. A meeting may not be necessary if, for example, a return date is already in prospect.
- 8.6 The purpose of the visit is to review the employee's health and prospects for a return to work. If there is no date for a return to work, then the employee should be advised that it may be necessary to arrange a medical referral to the Council's Occupational Health Service, (see Section 6 above).
- 8.7 The outcome of the discussion should be confirmed in writing within five days of the meeting by the manager.
- 8.8 Where an employee has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial, long-term (one year or more) adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 may apply. In these circumstances the manager must consider the need for reasonable adjustments and should seek appropriate specialist advice from the HR and Payroll Service.
- 8.9 If the employee continues to remain absent due to sickness and/or within ten working days of the receipt of the Occupational Health report, the manager should arrange a meeting with the employee (or home visit at the employee's request) to advise him/her of the content of the report, if applicable.
- 8.10 At the meeting the following options should be explored according to the circumstances which have been identified:
 - a) A return to work on a specified date.

- b) A return to work on a phased basis from a specified date.(see section 9 below)
- c) A return to work at a later unspecified date following convalescence.
- d) A return to work on modified duties and/or reduced hours for a limited period of rehabilitation, with the aim that the employee will return to the full range of duties/hours in a given period. If employees reduce their hours this will result in adjusted pay. Dependent upon individual circumstances, modified duties may result in adjusted pay.
- e) The possibility of a return to work to suitable alternative employment on a permanent basis (where such suitable alternative employment can be identified). Please refer to the Authority's Redeployment Procedure.
- f) The possibility of ill-health retirement in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme. This option will only apply where the independent Medical Practitioner issues a Certificate of Permanent Incapacity and the employment is terminated on the grounds of permanent ill-health. (See below for policy to be followed for termination of employment on grounds of ill-health.)
- 8.11 In the event of the Occupational Health requesting the opportunity to review the employee's health after, for example, a meeting/ home visit should be arranged by the manager prior to elapse of the period to acquire up to date information for a second referral to Occupational Health. Within ten working days of receipt of the report, the manager should meet with the employee again to discuss its contents and consider the options (8.10 a-f).
- 8.12 If none of the above options available in 8.9 and 8.10 are viable, please see Section 10.

9. Phased Return to Work

- 9.1 In order to facilitate a return to work following long-term sickness absence, or in certain cases dependent on the nature of the illness, e.g. stress related absence, to facilitate an early return to work before the absence becomes long-term, the Occupational Health Adviser may recommend some form of phased return to full duties and responsibilities. This could involve a return to work on modified duties, on reduced hours, on a temporary basis or working from home, or such other reasonable measure which would reduce the need for a longer period of absence, as appropriate.
- 9.2 A meeting should take place with the employee, their line manager and a representative from the HR and Payroll Service at which agreement should be reached on the terms of a Return to Work Plan.
- 9.3 The Return to Work Plan will be produced by the line manager, and will outline the terms of the phased return. It is anticipated the employee will gradually build up to a return to full duties and responsibilities, and this should be for the shortest time possible and be achieved within a four week period. Depending upon the circumstances this may be extended for a further 2 weeks maximum.
- 9.4 For this limited phased return, the employee will need to supply a 'fit to return to work' note from their GP agreeing to the terms of the phased return. This period will therefore be classed as being at work for pay purposes and the employee will be paid their normal rate of pay.
- 9.5 If the employee has difficulty in increasing their hours/attendance/workload and it becomes unlikely that a full return will be possible as planned, then the employee will need to obtain a Statement of Fitness for Work from their GP and the phased return should be terminated as soon as practicable. In addition, a referral should be made to the Occupational Health Adviser for additional advice.

10. **Termination of Employment**

- 10.1 After considering all the options identified in 8.10 a) f), it may be that the only course of action available is to consider the termination of employment on the grounds of sickness capability. This course of action may be considered where the Occupational Health Adviser is unable to certify the ill-health/incapacity as permanent and therefore ill-health retirement is inappropriate but also where the prognosis is difficult to determine. In reaching a decision on this course of action, the medical opinion given by the Occupational Health Adviser will be taken into account. However, managers must be aware that this is only one element and that there may be other relevant factors which should be taken into account in coming to a decision.
- 10.2 If termination of employment is being considered, a meeting will be held with the employee and their representative to discuss this and allow the employee and their representative the opportunity to respond.
- 10.3 The employee and their representative will be given five working days notice of the meeting and informed of the reason for the meeting. The employee should be made aware that a potential outcome of the meeting may be that the only course of action available is termination of their employment on the grounds of sickness capability.
- 10.4 The following process should always be followed:
 - The purpose of the meeting is to discuss the position and this will include a review of all the
 options available. The employee and their representative will be given the opportunity to respond.
 The employee will be made aware that a potential outcome of the meeting may be that the only
 course of action available is termination of employment on the grounds of sickness capability (as
 all other options have been considered.)
 - The meeting should be convened by the relevant Executive Director or Assistant Director and should be formal.
 - The employee's Line Manager/Service Manager or Supervisor will be present.
 - A Senior Officer from the HR and Payroll Service should always be present.
 - A legal adviser may be present.

If the outcome is a decision to dismiss, the employee will receive:

- 1 The appropriate period of notice, or payment in lieu of notice (if appropriate).
- 2 Written notice of the reasons for their dismissal within five working days.
- 11 **Appeals** The employee will have a right of appeal against this decision under the Council's Appeals Procedure.
- 12. This policy applies to all the Council's employees except the following: those employees who are covered by JNC Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives and the JNC Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities.

Appendix D

APPRAISAL SCHEME

Employees are the major resource for achieving objectives. Effective people management is directly related to improvements in service delivery and can affect both the employee in terms of motivation and commitment and the Council in delivering excellent services and achieving results.

INTRODUCTION

This document outlines the procedure of the Appraisal Scheme. It describes the action to be taken by line managers (appraiser) and their employees (appraisee) in preparing for, conducting and following up the review meeting.

SCOPE

This scheme applies to all employees, with variations as follows:

New Starters - all new starters must have had an appraisal within the first six months of their employment in line with the Probationary Procedure. Assistant Directors must then ensure that these employees are included into the fixed cycle of the appraisals and reviews from then on.

Casuals - where casuals work less than an average of **9 hours** per month they should be excluded from the scheme. Any queries on the determination of casuals can be obtained from the HR and Payroll Team.

Fixed term staff – on 9 month contracts or less. Training needs will have been identified at Induction or during the probationary period.

Long-Term Absences – the appraisals for employees who have been on long-term absence should be picked up as soon as reasonably practicable.

Group appraisals - These can be completed for groups of employees. There is a form designed specifically for this, which is available on the Intranet. Whilst it is permissible to have a Grouped Performance Appraisal Plan and Grouped Learning and Development Plan completed at the initial appraisal (April-June) all employees in the Group Appraisal must be assessed against competencies at the Appraisal Review on an **individual** basis and have an **individual** Learning and Development Plan completed. The Assistant Director's consent is required for carrying out grouped appraisals and this should be obtained in advance.

PERFORM – Managers should ensure that they use the appropriate long-term absence codes when entering appraisal details onto PERFORM. All appraisal and review dates will be maintained within the PERFORM system by managers.

FREQUENCY

A meeting will be carried out after the individual has been in post for six months. Following this there will be an annual meeting, with a review every six months of performance against the action plan and the continuing relevance of the plan itself. These are the minimum requirements. Additional reviews may be carried out where appropriate/necessary and many service areas conduct these supporting 1:1s.

RECORDS/CONFIDENTIALITY

Records of the interviews will be treated in the strictest confidence and be retained on the employee's personal file in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998.

Appraisal Cycle (Annual review January - March)

Pre-Appraisal

Appraisal Preparation Form completed by Appraisee (optional).

Appraisal Meeting (January to March)

Review Performance Appraisal Plan for previous year noting outcomes. Discuss new objectives and how these link to Corporate/Service Plan Targets.

Review Learning and Development undertaken in previous year and complete relevant Post Learning and Development Evaluation Forms.

Review Competencies/ Job Description/Health & Safety Risk Assessment (where appropriate)/Check employee being treated appropriately.

Produce Individual Learning and Development Plan for next year.

Post Appraisal

Date of meeting to be entered onto PERFORM system by the manager.

Manager to provide a signed copy of documents to appraisee.

Appraisee to retain one copy.

Manager to compile Service Area Learning and Development Plan and send to Joint Assistant Director by end of March.

Any requests for training with a cost under £300 should be supported by the relevant Assistant Director and forwarded to the Assistant Director - HR and Payroll for approval.

Any requests for training with a cost over £300 should be forwarded to the HR section for agreement by the Chief Executive/Directors and Assistant Director HR and Payroll

A response will then be provided directly to the employee/manager from HR.

 ${\bf Quarterly\ budget\ information\ to\ SAMT\ on\ Learning\ and\ Development\ expenditure\ and\ any\ effect\ on\ budgets.}$

Appraisal Cycle (6 month review July - September)

Pre-Appraisal review

Appraisal Preparation Form completed by Appraisee (optional).

Appraisal Review Meeting (July to September)

Review Performance Appraisal Plan for April to September of current year noting outcomes. Check progress towards objectives in next six months and review past 6 months

Review Learning and Development undertaken April to September of current year and complete relevant Evaluation Forms and submit to Assistant Director to compile **Departmental Evaluation Report**.

Review Competencies/ Job Description/Health & Safety Risk Assessment (where appropriate)/Check employee being treated appropriately.

Produce individual Learning and Development Plan for next year, let employee know that no plans will be documented until April however requests can still be progressed to Chief Executive/Director or Assistant Director and Assistant Director (HR) as appropriate

Post Appraisal review

Date of review meeting to be entered onto PERFORM system by the manager.

Manager to provide a signed copy of documents to appraisee.

Appraisee to retain one copy.

Any requests for training with a cost under £300 should be supported by the relevant Assistant Director and forwarded to the Assistant Director - HR and Payroll for approval.

Any requests for training with a cost over £300 should be forwarded to the HR section for agreement by the Chief Executive/Directors and Assistant Director HR and Payroll

A response will then be provided directly to the employee/manager from HR.

 $Quarterly\ budget\ information\ to\ SAMT\ on\ Learning\ and\ Development\ expenditure\ and\ any\ effect\ on\ budgets.$

PURPOSE

The purpose of the scheme can be defined in terms of four main activities:

Plan

- reviewing role requirements and how performance will be measured
- identifying learning and development needs to improve contribution
- identifying an action plan to meet any needs which have been highlighted through the Appraisal process

Do

encourage performance and provide support

Review

- past performance
- assess and reviewing competencies

Revise

 seek improvements where performance standards have not been achieved and make adjustments for next planning round as necessary

AIMS

It has two main aims which are:

- 1. To support each employee to achieve a high standard of performance in the work which is necessary to enable their service to meet its own and the Council's priorities and objectives.
- 2. To identify employees' learning and development needs.

KEY PRINCIPLES

- 1. Achievement of individual, team and corporate priorities.
- 2. Commitment to the process of performance improvement.
- 3. The system will not be linked to an employee's pay.
- 4. It will not be used as a tool for selecting employees for redundancy.
- 5. It will not be used to rate employees against one another.
- 6. It will be operated separately from any disciplinary process.

BENEFITS OF THE APPRAISAL AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW SCHEME

A properly conducted Appraisal scheme benefits:

- the employee
- the manager
- the Council

In the following paragraphs, the benefits to each are explored.

Employees will benefit from the Appraisal scheme by having the opportunity to:

- understand more clearly what is expected in the job;
- find out how their manager views their work, receiving praise for jobs well done and receiving support and guidance for any areas which require improvement;
- be given the chance to contribute ideas and views as to how the service should operate;
- discuss any learning and development support they are likely to need;
- discuss and agree a learning and development plan if appropriate.

Managers conducting the reviews will benefit from the Appraisal scheme by gaining an opportunity to:

- review in detail the performance of members of the team
- assess learning, development and support needs
- understand how individuals perceive their own performance, learning and development needs
- understand individual's ambitions
- gain an overview of the balance of workload across the team
- uncover areas of confusion or overlap between members of the team
- realise constraints which inhibit employee performance
- understand how their management style contributes to the performance of their employees
- direct the work of members of the team by agreeing key objectives and how these will be met
- agree realistic learning and development opportunities with individuals
- agree any necessary updating of work programmes
- ensure equality in the treatment of employees
- encourage self assessment

The Council will benefit from the Appraisal scheme by gaining:

- improved performance from employees;
- improved motivation and job satisfaction on the part of employees;
- more accurate identification of training needs;
- better use of development opportunities in the workplace;
- greater prominence being given by all to learning and continuous improvement;
- improved opportunities being offered to groups that before have been underrepresented in access to resources for training and development;
- an increased awareness of where both employee, team and organisation are going, need to go and how best to get there;
- improved quality of service given to public;
- better use of resources;
- better understanding between employees and their line manager.

RESPONSIBILITIES

Overview

The Joint Chief Executive, Joint Directors and Joint Assistant Directors interview their Service Managers who, in turn, interview the staff that they line manage and so on. This gives managers experience of being reviewed before conducting meetings themselves and ensures that the objectives they set for their staff are in line with overall corporate objectives.

Across the Council there are a range of responsibilities for performance:

Members and Senior Managers are responsible for:

- endorsing the Appraisal scheme
- ensuring that resources are targeted
- cascading corporate visions, objectives and plans down to team and individual performance level
- linking the management of people's performance with service plans
- setting targets and monitoring performance
- regularly monitoring, reviewing and evaluating the Appraisal scheme
- auditing the management processes which underpin the scheme

Line Managers are responsible for:

- translating corporate, directorate and service objectives into personal targets
- agreeing job descriptions and targets with their teams
- conducting at least monthly one-to-one meetings with each employee
- undertaking regular discussion and formal appraisals with individuals on the achievement of objectives
- identifying learning, development and other support needs and determining priorities for meeting these
- encouraging staff discussion concerning career progression and personal progression and personal development
- ensuring that six-monthly reviews take place for all employees
- recognising and communicating achievements
- evaluating developmental activity and ensuring that training evaluation forms are completed

Employees are responsible for:

- checking that their individual objectives fit with Council, service and team objectives
- ensuring that their job meets service delivery needs and that any issues of concern are fed back to their manager
- regularly communicating with their manager
- identifying personal development needs and how to achieve them
- preparing for meetings
- participating in any training, learning, development and other support opportunities that are offered

 reflecting on how development opportunities have improved the way they work and that this learning is shared with others

EQUALITY IN EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

It is essential that managers treat all employees fairly and equitably in the employee development process.

As a mechanism for measuring performance, the process of Appraisal helps to identify employee development and training needs and other specific requirements to enable continuous satisfactory performance.

The Council is committed to providing equality of opportunity for its workforce and it is essential that each job-holder's performance is considered in an impartial and objective manner.

Managers must be particularly alert to the possibility of unintentional discrimination. This can occur when assumptions are made about the abilities, expectations and ambitions of employees, or when judgements are based on stereotypes rather than an individual's performance. This can prevent employees from being allowed the opportunity to develop to their full potential and as a result may have an adverse impact on the way we conduct our business.

It is recognised that individual employees have different needs. The meeting should identify the barriers to performance and development which stem from disadvantage or discrimination.

The appraisal meetings are, and should be, regarded as part of the normal managerial/supervisory role in terms of continuous monitoring of performance and agreeing objectives.

COMPETENCIES

There are six competencies which are considered to be integral to the effective performance of all employees. There are also four competencies which are considered to be integral to the effective performance of those who have managerial or supervisory responsibilities. Appraisers and appraisees are asked to prepare for this section by identifying where the core skills have been effectively demonstrated and examples of where the core skill areas need improvement. Where areas for improvement are identified, agreement should be reached on how this improvement will be achieved. For example, this could be through a change in behaviour; formal training; coaching or further structured experience in the workplace (see 2.3). The competencies should be viewed in the context of the job requirements.

Employees will be assessed against the following 6 competencies

- Communication (non-managerial)
- Performance
- Team Working
- Customer Service
- Personal Effectiveness
- Knowledge and Skills

Managers will be assessed against the following 10 competencies

- Performance
- Team Working

- Customer Service
- Personal Effectiveness
- Knowledge and Skills
- Leadership and influence
- Strategic Planning
- Managerial
- Performance Management
- Communication

PROCEDURE

The procedure has three distinct stages: preparation, meeting and follow-up. The term 'manager' is used to indicate the person responsible for conducting the appraisal meeting. The term does not relate directly to any job title. The reviewing manager will usually be the employee's line manager or supervisor.

Preparation

Initially some training is needed to help the manager operate the scheme. The training takes place before an individual conducts an appraisal meeting.

For the meeting to be effective it is important that the manager and the employee take some time to prepare for the meeting.

For the Manager

Arrange the meeting well in advance, giving reasonable notice to the employee of the meeting.

At this stage employees should also be given access to useful documentation such as records of past appraisal meetings, a copy of their current job description, relevant extracts from service plans, performance standards, Council's Corporate Plan and any other useful information.

For the Individual

The employee should look back over the previous twelve months and consider achievements and any suggestions they might have for improving the way their work is done. The employee should also consider the future. The employee should complete Appendix A.

For Both

- 1. Fix a mutually convenient time, allowing sufficient time for a relaxed, constructive meeting.
- 2. The manager and employee should each complete a preparation sheet prior to the meeting.

Appraisal is not about discussing current operational issues, which should be discussed as part of the normal day-to-day management process of the service. It is a review of key tasks and a process to identify learning and development needs. Long-term barriers to effective performance and working relationships are suitable topics for discussion.

The Meeting

No manager will conduct an appraisal meeting without first undergoing appropriate training.

Anything that detracts from the main purpose of the meeting, or interrupts this, is to be avoided. It is, therefore, essential that sufficient time is set aside (usually a minimum of one hour), that a suitable venue is booked if necessary and that all telephone calls and callers are stopped.

The purpose of the meeting is to:-

- review the employee's current job description, identifying any variations between this and the actual work being carried out
- review the actual job being done what is involved and how well it is being done, by looking at both strengths and areas for improvement
- identify any changes which could make the job more effective
- encourage the further development of the employee within their current job
- identify any training, development and support needs the employee may have
- draw up an action plan

An appraisal record form is to be completed after each meeting.

Action Plans

These need to be realistic with definite timescales so as to be clear on who is going to do what, by when and how. Any goals should be specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timed. They also need individuals' commitment so it is worth spending time reaching agreed goals as opposed to the manager imposing these.

Setting achievable goals is not easy. Items need to be selected that will make a significant difference to performance. It is important to focus on behaviours or outcomes that can be measured, rather than personal qualities or approaches which are open to subjective interpretation. Both parties, when setting or reviewing performance, must be aware of the need to separate the influence of other people or external factors from individual effort.

Learning and development needs should relate to competencies. They should be categorised as:-

Essential - those which are necessary to improve performance or because of changes, such as a change in job, job content, technology, work systems or methods or any other circumstances which need to be addressed to ensure that performance and service delivery is acceptable.

Desirable - those which assist in career development or which would help with improved performance and personal development.

Disputes

It is anticipated that disputes will be minimal, considering that the scheme relies on mutual respect and commitment to work amicably to resolve disagreements. However, it is recognised that there may be occasions when an employee feels dissatisfied with their treatment under the scheme, and in this case the matter will be dealt with under the Council's Grievance Procedure.

The appraisal process provides an opportunity to consider future career developments or personal aspirations for the year(s) ahead. The range of

issues covered may vary; for some employees it might be their career aspirations for different roles within the Council, for others, who may be approaching a time when their pension becomes payable, it may cover where they see themselves working in the Council. The appraisee will not be held to anything which is said in this discussion; however, it does provide the opportunity to think about the longer term and succession planning. In summary:

If the Appraisee	The Appraiser should	
Highlights specific career aspirations	Consider appraisee's learning and	
	development needs and manage	
	aspirations of Appraisee objectively	
Highlights a wish to retire in the next 2 years	Inform HR of this intention.	
Highlights a wish to retire at their Statutory	Inform Appraisee that they should give the	
Retirement Age, or at some point beyond	relevant contractual notice as stated in	
their Statutory Retirement Age.	their contract of employment.	

Health and Safety

The appraisal process provides an opportunity to review and agree the employee's individual Health and Safety Risk Assessment. Risk Assessments should not be viewed as a one off activity but an evolving document which should be reviewed on a regular basis or when the assessment may no longer be considered to be suitable and sufficient. Examples of when this may be necessary are:

- A change in the nature of the work;
- Introduction of new plant/ work equipment
- An increased appreciation of hazards and risks;
- Following an Accident/ incident
- Due to changes in the occupational capabilities of the individual.

Service Learning and Development Plans

As well as agreeing individual Learning and Development Plans a Service Learning and Development Plan will be produced each year in April by the Assistant Director. This will form part of the Service Plan and should further prioritise identified needs within the whole service. This is important for the equitable allocation of resources across the Council. Once completed a copy of this plan must be sent to the HR and Payroll Team.

On completion of the Appraisal process, using PERFORM, a record should be made that Appraisals are complete along with the date they were carried out. If you require help with this please contact Customer Service and Improvement Department.

Monitoring and Review

The HR and Payroll Team are responsible for monitoring implementation of the Scheme and its effectiveness. The HR and Payroll Team, as part of the continuous monitoring of the Appraisal Scheme, will access a random sample of appraisal records for coverage, consistency and effective people management.

Appendix A
Appraisal Preparation Form – for use at annual and 6 monthly review

1) What aspects of your job performance do you feel proud of and why?
2) In what ways have you met the requirements of your job?
O) M/h at a consistent service in a sefermance in the discount of all discount in the discount
3) What aspects of your job performance have made you feel disappointed and why?
and why:
4) What areas of your job performance do you feel you could improve?
5) What factors have influenced your achievement of your objectives?
Mention here any obstacles/problems
6) Looking ahead, what objectives would you set for yourself?
7) What do you feel are your development needs?
0) How could your manager our port you in developing your potential?
B) How could your manager support you in developing your potential?
9) What are your future career development and personal aspirations for the
year(s) ahead?
10)Any additional comments or points that you want to raise during your
review meeting?

If you require a copy of your job description please contact HR and Payroll

March 2014

Appraisal Scheme

Objectives of the appraisal process

The scheme is a two-way process where both Appraisee and Appraiser are able to <u>talk through issues</u> that relate to their work and <u>plan for the coming year</u>. Both parties will need to be clear on and agree individual and team <u>priorities and targets</u> accordingly.

Name of employee	
(Or employees if	
conducting a group	
appraisal)	
Job title	
Service	
Name of Manager	
Review date	

Once the appraisal form is complete please ensure that any Learning and Development requirements are included on the Service Area training plan

Overall role requirements – complete only by exception if the job has changed since the last review.	
•	

^{*}Should you have any queries please contact a member of HR for advice*

Review of previous year

Corporate Plan objective/target	Service Plan objectives/targets	Action taken by employee to meet the key task	Proposed and actual completion date	How was progress discussed e.g. 1:1, special meeting arranged and key dates	Outcome and comment
			XX/XX/XXXX- proposed XX/XX/XXXX- actual		

Plan for current year

Corporate Plan objective/target	Service Plan objectives/targets	Action by employee to meet the key task	Proposed completion date	How will progress be discussed e.g. 1:1, special meeting arranged and dates	Comments

Learning and Development Plan

Priority Essential/ Desirable	Identified Learning/ Development need	Link to Corporate Plan/Service Plan/Individual development	What is the best way to meet this need	Action required, by whom and date	Cost	Date training to be undertaken	Outcome/Not yet complete	Comments
		development	Tieeu					

Please note that any training requests should be added to the service area training plan and sent to HR ASAP to inform the Corporate Learning and Development Plan

<u>Learning and Development Evaluation Form – complete for any learning and development activity undertaken since the last</u> review

Name: review Service Area

Learning and Development Course	Date and Length of Course	Course Provider	Location / Venue	Reason for Attending / Objective	Did a discussion take place between yourself and your manager?	Have you fed back to colleagues where appropriate?	To what extent have your objectives been met? Full/Mainly/ Partially/ Not at all	Immediate benefits Individual/ Team/Council Impact of development	Concerns / Issues / Areas for Improvement	Would you recommend to a colleague? Why?

3 - 6 MONTH REVIEW				
Reviewing the above, can you now identify any additional information e.g. benefits, improved job performance, areas for improvement, what you could do differently.				
6 - 12 MONTH REVIEW				
Reviewing the above, can you now identify any additional information e.g. benefits, improved job performance, areas for improvement, what you could do differently.				

Competencies

The information below may be used to facilitate discussion against the assessment criteria

4	Excellent	The employee clearly demonstrates that they are performing at the highest level against their current roles and responsibilities
3	Good	There is clear indication that the employee performs well in this area. This may be an area for development if higher levels of achievement are required. However the employee is operating at a good level in this competency
2	Satisfactory/Average	There is clear indication that this competency would require strengthening for higher levels of achievement to be met. However the employee is operating at a level which is satisfactory. Strengthening this competency would enhance performance of the employee and team.
1	Improvement required	The employee is limited in this competency which will have a significant impact on the performance of the individual and the team. It will be crucial to develop this competency to allow the employee to perform.

Competencies

Leadership and Influence (Management)				
Examples include	Comments			
provide suitable and effective leadership to the employee group and within the management teams of the Council				
influence people internally and externally in appropriate ways to achieve the objectives of the Council				
use behaviours which empower and develop others				
motivate, encourage and engage others, especially those for whom they have line management responsibilities.				
Strategic Planning (Management)				
Examples include	Comments			
develop and articulate the vision for their area of responsibility				
make plans to involve the team in the				

communication of the priorities and objectives and to ensure these are actioned

- anticipate future requirements and plan to meet these
- make appropriate decisions about service delivery
- the ability to adapt to changes and to remain open to new developments. To be proactive, consider the benefits and risks involved in change and assessing these appropriately to arrive at a decision that benefits the team, service and Council.

Managerial (Management)

Examples include

- manage on an operational day to day basis the service(s) for which they are responsible, meeting legal requirements, in particular with regards to health and safety and equality legislation
- manage the financial resources available, preparing and monitoring budgets and taking action to avoid under/overspends
- manage the people in their team(s)/service, including performance, recruitment and selection, discipline, attendance management and learning and developing employees.
- to recognise the different needs of employees and to ensure equality of opportunity
- manage any physical resources for which they are responsible
- manage the Health and Wellbeing of employees by encouraging open communication between manager and employee to address issues around capacity, workload and work-life balance. Managers to discuss resource issues with staff and to consider re-allocation of work, reprioritisation and welfare support for the employee where appropriate.

Performance (Management)

Examples include

Comments

Comments

 establish realistic and challenging targets for their service, their employees and themselves · achieve targets through effective planning, monitoring and review • reviewing the performance of others and supporting them in achieving their targets. • identifying learning and development needs of employees in order to achieve and improve performance. **Communication (Management)** Examples include Comments communicate the overall Council vision, priorities and objectives and link these to the team and the individual objectives • express ideas clearly in writing, on a one to one basis, in meetings and in presentations in a formal context • give clear explanations, and instructions when necessary, to others, such as other employees and the public • use communication methods which are appropriate for each situation, for example: writing, e-mail, telephone, face-to-face and so on • communicate with colleagues across the Council to improve performance and share good practice. **Customer Focus (Management) Examples include** Comments · Use customer insight to inform policy and strategy and to prioritise service improvement activity. Demonstrate commitment to developing and delivering customer focused services through recruitment, training and development policies for staff. **Customer Focus (Non management) Examples include** Comments • Protect customers' privacy both in

discussions and in the transfer and storage of their information.

- Actively promote and participate in delivering customer focused services.
- Treat all customers and clients fairly and with courtesy
- Understand the needs of customers and clients
- Ensure their needs are met where possible
- Communicate appropriately and clearly with customers and clients

Communication (Non management)				
, ,				
Examples include	Comments			
be clear and gain understanding from the				
people you deal with, for example, other				
employees, your manager, supervisors and				
customers				
communicate with immediate colleagues				
within the work group, sharing information to				
improve effectiveness and performance				
use communication methods which are				
appropriate for each situation, for example:				
writing, telephone, face-to-face and so on				
explain about problems faced with.				
explain about problems faced with.				
Performance (Non management)				
Examples include	Comments			
carry out work to an appropriate level of				
competence and quality				
achieve appropriate levels of output				
work at a pace to ensure output is				
satisfactory				
ensure errors are minimised.				
Team working (Non management)				
Examples include	Comments			
co-operate with team members to achieve				
tasks and targets				
to support team members willingly when				
required				
·				
• to undertake a range of tasks within the				
team context				
contribute to improving team performance.				
Personal Effectiveness (Non manageme	ent)			
Examples include	Comments			
take responsibility and initiative where				
appropriate, in dealing with situations				
-				

be punctual				
have a good attendance record				
have appropriate standards of personal presentation and behaviour				
be aware of conduct in dealing with others in terms of equality and diversity to promote a positive, non-discriminatory environment				
be safety aware				
deal with change in the working situation				
be able to learn and continuously improve in the job role				
work co-operatively and constructively with employees, managers and others				
make a personal contribution and commitment to the priorities and objectives of NEDDC.				
Knowledge and Skills (Non management)				
Examples include	Comments			
have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job				
have the necessary technical knowledge to				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the 				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the job 				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the job update qualifications as necessary 				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the job update qualifications as necessary have the necessary skills to do the job 				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the job update qualifications as necessary have the necessary skills to do the job develop personal skills within the job identify where additional training and learning is needed to deal with changes at 				
 have the necessary technical knowledge to do the job have the necessary qualifications to do the job update qualifications as necessary have the necessary skills to do the job develop personal skills within the job identify where additional training and learning is needed to deal with changes at work undertake learning and other development activities to improve skills and knowledge (can include within learning and development personal achievement and learning which is 				

	aining appropriate aining undertaken	Y Date	N
Any other comme	nts		
Signed by manager	·		
Date			
Signed by employed	e(s)		
Date			

Once the appraisal form is complete please ensure that any Learning and Development requirements are included on the Service Area training plan